RECEIVED

JAN 19 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

DeAndrea G. Benjamin Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-29-00442

Appellate Case No. 2015-002524

Josh Hammond..... Respondent,

v.

Richard Tod Hammond ..... Appellant,

v.

Titan Logging, LLC..... Third - Party Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Francis L. Bell, Jr., Esquire  
Francis Bell Law Firm, LLC  
P.O. Box 867  
Lancaster, SC 29721  
(803) 283-8476  
Bar No. 627  
Attorney for Appellant

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE BY PERFORMING A DOCUMENT DUMP OR TRIAL BY AMBUSH ON DATE OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT HEARING.
- II. THE RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE BY USING A MEMORANDUM OF LAW INSTEAD OF AN AFFIDAVIT AS A VEHICLE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE TO THE COURT.
- III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO PROCEED WITH THE HEARING AFTER VIOLATING THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE WITH THE DOCUMENT DUMP AND ALLOWING THE EVIDENCE OFFERED TO BE PRESENTED BY A MEMORANDUM OF LAW.
- IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT OF WHO OWNED THE EQUIPMENT IN QUESTION OR THE HAMMOND LAND CLEARING BUSINESS.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent filed this action April 10, 2014, in the Circuit Court of Lancaster County seeking to claim pieces of logging equipment among other things. Parties traded interrogatories and other discovery materials, but before depositions were scheduled Respondent moved for Summary Judgment on May 6, 2015 and included no other filings with the Motion. The initial hearing was on August 24, 2015. The Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin presided. Respondent performed a document dump over objections by Appellant. The Judge allowed them and heard arguments and allowed the record to stay open for 15 days for extra evidence to be presented. After new affidavits and evidence were submitted from Appellant and the first affidavit with the same exhibits from the hearing were submitted from the Respondent, the trial Judge granted Respondent's motion and those issues in the case were dismissed and certain pieces of equipment demanded be turned over. That order was filed November 16, 2015. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on December 8, 2015.

## **FACTS**

Appellant Richard Tod Hammond started Hammond Land Clearing, an unincorporated business at the time, in 1988 and has continuously operated it since that date. (R. p. 74) Respondent Josh Hammond, son of the Appellant, began working for Hammond Land Clearing after he graduated high school in 2006. (R. p. 74) In 2008, Respondent ceased working with Hammond Land Clearing temporarily and moved to the coastal area of South Carolina to live with his mother Rhonda Brewer and stepfather, Brad Brewer. (R. p. 74) Respondent chose to return to Lancaster shortly after and started working at Hammond Land Clearing again. In 2009, Hammond Land Clearing began logging timber full time and

Respondent continued to work with the business. (R. p. 74) Respondent again left the company in 2012 temporarily then returned to work and left the business again in May of 2013 and started timber cutting jobs with his stepfather, Brad Brewer, again. (R. p. 75) There was a disagreement between the Respondent and the stepfather and Respondent requested Appellant's company to help finish a job in Timmonsville, South Carolina, for Keels Land and Timber. (R. p. 75) There was a dispute between the Respondent and Appellant about the distribution of funds after the job for Keels Land and Timber and that was the last of the dealings between Respondent and Appellant. (R. p. 75)

Since 2007 Respondent has had access to all of Appellant's personal and business funds. (R. p. 75) Personal expenses, vehicle payments and insurance payments all came out of Hammond Land Clearing bank accounts. (R. p. 75) Respondent was offered a part of Hammond Land Clearing in 2009 or 2010 but drawn paperwork was never signed. (R. p. 75) The primary bank accounts for Hammond Land Clearing were moved to Respondent's name as a DBA Hammond Land Clearing account after Respondent began working full time for the logging business. (R. p. 75) The accounts were previously listed as Tod Hammond DBA Hammond Land Clearing. (R. p. 75)

After Respondent began working, the decision was made to grow the logging side of the land clearing business so new equipment was to be purchased. (R. p. 75) Down payments on the equipment were paid with the Hammond Land Clearing checking accounts. (R. p. 75) Loans were taken out in Respondent's name at the request and direction of the Appellant to help his son establish his credit and get loans in his name. (R. p. 75) One loan was secured with collateral in the form of Bank Certificates of Deposits belonging to Josh Hammond and Nancy Hinson, who is Appellant's mother and Respondent's grandmother.

(R. p. 75) Nancy Hinson was approached by Appellant with the understanding that Hammond Land Clearing would be paying off the loan. (R. pp. 75-76) The large equipment in question in this suit includes a 2004 Tigercat 720D Cutter (S/N 720890) that was purchased on June 11, 2009, a 2004 Tigercat 724D Cutter (S/N 724065) purchased on December 11, 2011, and a 2004 Tigercat 620C Skidder (S/N 6200569) purchased on January 18, 2010. (R. p.76) The contract of sale from Tidewater Equipment Company in Brunswick, Georgia for the 2004 Tigercat 720D was to Hammond Land Clearing and signed by Respondent Josh Hammond. (R. pp. 81-82) The loan was signed by Respondent and Nancy Hinson with the monthly payments being made by Hammond Land Clearing checking account until Respondent left the company in 2013. (R. pp. 230, 240, 263-278) The 2004 Tigercat 724D was purchased by Hammond Land Clearing, signed by Respondent Josh Hammond. (R. p. 83) The payments were made from the Hammond Land Clearing Checking account until Respondent left the company in 2013. (R. pp. 240, 263-278) The 620C Skidder contract of sale was through Tidewater Equipment to Hammond Land Clearing, signed by Josh Hammond. (R. p. 84) The payments were made with the Hammond Land Clearing Checking account. (R. pp. 240, 263-278)

Appellant has always owned and operated Hammond Land Clearing, filed the taxes for Hammond Land clearing including the years 2009, 2010 and 2011 which were filed prior to this lawsuit. (R. p. 76) 1099s provided show Hammond Land Clearing collecting money either under Appellant's social security number or the Federal Tax ID number that Appellant set up for Hammond Land Clearing. (R. pp. 86-94) When the Hammond Land Clearing checking accounts were switched to the Respondent's name, DBA Hammond Land Clearing, Appellant still had an interest in those accounts, had access to write checks

and withdraw money including Carolina First/TD Bank accounts ending in 5105 and 7154. (R. pp. 301, 303-306, 308-310) On the accounts, as well as the contract of sales for the equipment, the address of 2552 Kirkover Drive, Lancaster, South Carolina was used which is Appellant's home address. (R. p. 300) The Contract for sale for the 620C Tigercat listed 1369 Lynwood Drive, Lancaster, South Carolina which is the address for the Hammond Land Clearing shop. Both Properties are owned by Appellant. (R. p. 300)

Respondent filed his Motion for Summary Judgment on May 6, 2015 and the hearing was held August 24, 2015. The Respondent filed no attachments with his motion and none were served to the Appellant prior to the hearing. (R. p. 15) At the hearing, Respondent handed delivered a packet of documents to Appellant's Counsel table that was filed that morning at 9:09AM, August 24, 2015. (R. p.22, lines 16-23) The documents handed to Appellant included a memorandum and attachments and were not clocked copies, but the Court agreed that they were clocked in that morning. Appellant objected to this process to the court. (R. p.22, lines 7-9) Appellant believed it was a document dump or trial by ambush and a violation of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The hearing continued with all documents presented allowed in. (R. p. 30, lines 4-10) The hearing concluded and Judge Benjamin allowed for the record to stay for 15 days for more evidence to be provided about the ownership of the three pieces of equipment. (R. pp. 63-65) During that 15 day period Appellant filed and submitted a Memorandum of Law, a second affidavit of the Appellant, an affidavit of Timothy Griggs who owns Grigg's Forestry, and multiple attachments. Respondent also submitted documents including an affidavit of the Respondent. The Judge reviewed the documents and submitted a Form 4 to the parties granting partial summary judgment on September 22, 2015 with instructions for Respondent

to prepare a formal order. The formal Order was signed by the Lower Court Judge on November 10, 2015 and filed on November 16, 2015. This appeal followed that Order

## ARGUMENTS

### I. THE RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE BY PERFORMING A DOCUMENT DUMP OR TRIAL BY AMBUSH ON DATE OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT HEARING.

Rule 1 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure is titled “Scope of Rules” and explains that the rules “shall be construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action.” Rule 1, SCRPC. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has even touched on the intended goal of the rules stating “the primary purpose of the civil procedural rules at issue, i.e., preventing or limiting ambush tactics at trial.” Fields v. Regional Medical Ctr. Of Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 609 S.E.2d 506 (S.C., 2005). The purpose of the rules is to prevent the trial by ambush that were common in this State during the code pleading era before the introduction of the formal South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. In interpreting a statute and a rule of civil procedure, courts follow the cardinal rule that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute or rule. Marichris, LLC v. Derrick, 384 S.C. 345, 682 S.E.2d 301 (S.C. App. 2009.)

Prehearing discovery is important and useful in allowing a party to review the evidence expected to be presented by an opposing party and to intelligently prepare for a contested hearing. It prevents trial by ambush and assists the parties in concentrating on the relevant, contested issues at the hearing. Rule 56 SCRPC has to be read with Rule 6

SCRCP to determine the timeliness of motions and attachments. Rule 6(d), SCRCP says that when a motion is supported by affidavit, the affidavit shall be served with the motion. Rule 56(a) SCRCP states that the movant may move with or without supporting affidavits, but when read with Rule 6, SCRCP those affidavits must be served with the motion. Rule 56(c) SCRCP does allow for a judgment to be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on files, together with affidavits, if any, show no genuine issue as to any material fact.

The Respondent in this case filed his Motion for Summary Judgment on May 6, 2015 with no affidavits or supporting documents. (R. p. 15) Appellant in response with no real direction on the issues to be brought in the Summary Judgment Hearing, prepared an affidavit with supporting documents and filed and served those documents. (R.pp. 74-205) Respondent then the day of the hearing filed and hand delivered a packet containing a memorandum in support of Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and other supporting documents that totaled eighty seven (87) pages. (R. pp. 206-290) Appellant argued unsuccessfully to the judge that it was a trial by ambush and a document dump by the Respondent and in violation of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. p. 22, line 7-p. 30, line 10)

Appellant takes the position that if Rule 56, SCRCP specifies that affidavits, if any be served with the motion, then these type of supporting documents should also be served with the motion in the interest of justice. Being handed an eighty seven page packet of supporting documents to Respondent's position at the start of a contested hearing is in no way in the scope or reason for the Rules of Civil Procedure. The SCRCP were put in place to prevent these type of ambush tactics and keep these types of hearings

on the path to be just, fair and efficient. The document dump in this case started an open argument in court on the legality of the dump of supporting documents at the hearing, delayed and possibly clouded the actual contested issues at hand. Respondent should have included these documents in the Motion and should not have performed a document dump on the Appellant at the hearing in violation of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.

**II. THE RESPONDENT VIOLATED THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE BY USING A MEMORANDUM OF LAW INSTEAD OF AN AFFIDAVIT AS A VEHICLE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE TO THE COURT.**

Rule 56, SCRCP governs summary judgment in the civil courts. Rule 56(c), SCRCP states the “judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact....” Affidavits do not have to be filed, but if they are filed they have to be served with the motion per Rule 6, SCRCP. The moving party may use the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file to help prove its position.

Black’s Law Dictionary states that a memorandum is a “party’s written statement of it’s legal arguments presented to the court, usually in the form of a brief.” Black’s Law Dictionary 998 (7th ed. 1999). An affidavit is described by Black’s as a “voluntary declaration of facts written down and sworn to by the declarant before an officer authorized to administer oaths. A great deal of evidence is submitted by affidavit, esp. in pretrial matters such as summary-judgment motions.” Black’s Law Dictionary 58 (7<sup>th</sup> ed. 1999).

Respondent in this case filed no affidavits with the motion, and submitted a memorandum supporting their Motion for Summary Judgement. (R. p. 28 lines 12-13) In accordance to what is allowed to be used per Rule 56(c), SCRCPP, the pleadings were not introduced at the hearing, there have been no depositions in this case at this time, some select interrogatories were introduced, and there are no admissions on file. Respondent, through his memorandum, introduced several exhibits that came from request for production during the discovery process. (R. p. 222) Requests for production are listed under Rule 34, SCRCPP and are separate and distinct from interrogatories that are listed under Rule 33, SCRCPP. Rule 56(c), SCRCPP specifically does not list requests for production. Appellant believes that since request for productions are not specifically listed under Rule 56, SCRCPP that any evidence listed outside that list in the rule must be introduced to the court by an appropriate vehicle such as deposition or an affidavit. Memorandums are allowed and are used to help guide someone to the legal argument of the submitting party of that memorandum. The court cannot rely on statements of counsel to support summary judgment. “[F]actual statements of the attorneys, whether made during argument or in written briefs or memoranda, ordinarily may not be considered by the court in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists.” Higgins v. Medical University of South Carolina, , 326 S.C. 592, 486 S.E.2d 269 (S.C. App., 1997)

Appellant believes that Respondent strategically used their Memorandum in lieu of an Affidavit to bypass the time constraints listed in Rule 6, SCRCPP that govern when affidavits must be submitted. But there was no affidavit submitted with the motion in this case. Respondent successfully attempted to introduce evidence to the court that is outside the specifics listed in Rule 56(c), SCRCPP. The Respondent needed a vehicle to introduce

that evidence to the court and successfully used the memorandum which Appellant believes is a violation of Rule 56(c), SCRPC and Rule 6(d), SCRPC and that he should have used an affidavit which Respondent would have been required to file with the motion.

**III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO PROCEED WITH THE HEARING AFTER VIOLATING THE SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE WITH THE DOCUMENT DUMP AND ALLOWING THE EVIDENCE OFFERED TO BE PRESENTED BY A MEMORANDUM OF LAW.**

Rule 56, SCRPC and Rule 6, SCRPC control the procedure for a motion for summary judgment and the timing of filing the motion and supporting affidavits. Affidavits, if any, shall be filed with the motion. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure also function to prevent trial by ambush or document dumps. The scope of the rules is to promote the fairness and justness of all court procedures including pretrial matters. Rule 56(c), SCRPC also sets forth appropriate supporting documents to be used with or without affidavits to show if there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.

The Lower Court erred in allowing Respondent to proceed in the Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing after his violation of Rule 56, SCRPC and Rule 6, SCRPC. Respondent performed a document dump on the Appellant on the morning of the hearing and did not provide Appellate with an affidavit or any supporting documents when they filed for the Summary Judgment Motion. (R. p. 15) Appellate agrees that the rules state that a party does not have to submit an affidavit at all, but Appellant believes that the Respondent attempted to bypass the time constraints in Rule 6, SCRPC by using a memorandum instead of an affidavit to introduce evidence to the court. Appellant objected to the document dump immediately at the start of the hearing, with the copy of the packet handed to Appellant not being clocked in. (R. pp. 22, lines 7-9, p. 29, lines

11-14.) Appellant claimed the document dump was against the SCRCP and constituted a trial by ambush. The Lower Court allowed Respondent to continue over objections. (R. p. 30, lines 4-10)

The Respondent violated the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure with a document dump on the Appellant at the beginning of the Hearing. The Respondent also violated the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure by attempting successfully to introduce evidence to the court through a memorandum and bypassing the rules for submitting an affidavit which would have been a more appropriate way to introduce evidence to the court that is not listed as supporting documents under Rule 56(c). The Lower Court should not have allowed the Respondent to continue after their violation of the SCRCP with the document dump or the inappropriate use of the memorandum.

**IV. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT OF WHO OWNED THE EQUIPMENT IN QUESTION OR THE HAMMOND LAND CLEARING BUSINESS.**

On appeal from an order granting summary judgement, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party below. USAA Property and Cas. Ins. Co v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 661 S.E. 2d 791 (S.C. 2008.) In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists on motion for summary judgment, the evidence, and all inferences, which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499 (S.C. 2010.)

To withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 400 S.C. 246, 734 S.E.2d 161 (S.C. 2012.) Courts considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony. David v. McLeod Regional Medical Center, 367 S.C. 242, 626 S.E.2d 1 (S.C. 2006.)

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