**RECEIVED**  
JAN 18 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002524  
Case No. 2014-CP-29-00442

Josh Hammond ..... Respondent,

v.

Richard Tod Hammond.....Appellant,

v.

Titan Logging, LLC.....Third-Party Defendant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Stephen L. Goldfinch, Jr.  
Ryan P. Compton  
**GOLDFINCH WINSLOW, LLC**  
Post Office Box 829  
Murrells Inlet, South Carolina 29576  
t. 843.357.9301 / f. 843.357.9303

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

**

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

As argued by Respondent below, because Appellant's conversion counterclaim is regarding checks, his counterclaim is governed by the law of negotiable instruments set forth in the Uniform Commercial Code, and specifically in S.C. Code Section 36-3-420. Section 36-3-420 provides:

(a) The law applicable to conversion of personal property applies to instruments. An instrument is also converted if it is taken by transfer, other than a negotiation, from a person not entitled to enforce the instrument . . . An action for conversion of an instrument may not be brought by (i) the issuer or acceptor of the instrument or (ii) a payee or indorsee who did not receive delivery of the instrument either directly or through delivery to an agent or a co-payee.

S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-420(a). Therefore, because the law applicable to conversion of personal property applies, for the Appellant to maintain his

counterclaim he must have established his title to or right to the possession of the checks. "Since conversion is a wrongful act, it cannot arise from the exercise of a legal right." *Castell v. Stephenson Finance Co.*, 244 S.C. 45, 51, 135 S.E.2d 311, 313 (1964). Respondent was named as the payee and, therefore, the Respondent exercised his legal right as the checks' payee. Therefore, Appellant's counterclaim failed as a matter of law. Appellant's counterclaim additionally failed, as a matter of law, because Appellant could not establish a title to or right to possession of either of the checks. (R. 10) (Order at 5). Appellant presented no argument below as to either of these issues concerning these two checks. Appellant never pursues this issue on appeal and never argues it on appeal. Thus, Appellant has abandoned this issue and any argument relating thereto. This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**B. Appellant's "agent" contention is not an argument, is not preserved for appeal, and is without merit.**

On appeal, Appellant contends that "Respondent was involved in that business, but to what degree is a question for a jury." (Init. App. Br. 13). Appellant also contends that "Respondent signing the contracts simply means that he as an agent for Hammond Land Clearing is purchasing equipment." (Init. App. Br. 16). As a threshold matter, the Appellant's "agent" contention is, in no way, an issue included in Appellant's statement of issues on appeal. Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, "no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."

Accordingly, this Court respectfully should not consider this point, or any argument thereto, as an issue on appeal. This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

Even if this Court were to disregard the fact that Appellant never includes this an issue on appeal, it is still not properly before this Court for appellate review for numerous reasons. First, it is axiomatic that appellate courts will not reverse on a ground not raised to the trial court. *See McClurg v. Deaton*, 395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011). Appellant never made the above-quoted "arguments" to the trial court during the motion hearing proceedings. Thus, the issue and these arguments are not preserved for appeal and this Court may not consider them on appeal. Second, the trial court's order did not mention, let alone rule on, the "agent" issue. (R. 6-11) (Order at 1-6). *See Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (1991) (where trial court does not explicitly rule on a question and appellant fails to make a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion on that ground, the issue is not properly before the Court of Appeals and should not be addressed). Third, Appellant did not file a motion to reconsider in order to obtain a ruling. *See Elam*, 361 S.C. at 24, 602 S.E.2d at 780 ("A party *must* file [a Rule 59(e)] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review). Fourth, even aside from those preservation issues, the Appellant's contention is not an argument because it is merely short, conclusory statements without any supporting authority and, therefore, it is

abandoned on appeal and not presented for appellate review before this Court. *See Bean v. S.C. Cent. R.R. Co.*, 392 S.C. 532, 560, 709 S.E.2d 99, 113 (Ct. App. 2011).

This single statement is the very first instance—and, in fact, the sole instance—that the Appellant comes close to arguing that the Respondent was somehow an agent of the Appellant. It is the first and only time the Appellant or Appellant’s counsel has even mentioned the word “agent,” which was never mentioned below to the lower court. Additionally, the Appellant’s use of these two sentences are simply too conclusory to present any issue on appeal and is, therefore, an abandonment of this issue and arguments thereto. *See Bean*, 392 S.C. at 560, 709 S.E.2d at 113 (Ct. App. 2011). This Court should affirm the lower court’s grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**C. The lower court did not grant summary judgment as to who owned the Hammond Land Clearing business and, therefore, this issue is not properly on appeal before this Court, and is without merit.**

Appellant’s fourth issue on appeal states that “the lower court erred in granting summary judgment on the issue of there was no genuine issue of material fact of who owned. . . the Hammond Land Clearing business.” (Init. App. Br. Issue IV, 12-20). Contrary to the Appellant’s contention, the lower court never ruled on “who owned the Hammond Land Clearing business” nor was that even the issue before the lower court as part of the Respondent’s motion for partial summary judgment. (R. 16-17) (Respondent’s Mtn.). Instead, the lower court solely ruled on the narrow issues brought before it

concerning an element of the Respondent's conversion claim and an element of the Appellant's conversion claim. (R. 6-11) (Order). Not only does the lower court's order not rule on this issue, Appellant never sought a ruling on this issue either and, as stated above, never filed any motion to request a ruling nor a motion for reconsideration. Therefore, this issue and Appellant's "argument" as to this issue are not preserved for appellate review. Accordingly, the Appellant's argument is procedurally barred, and respectfully this Court should not address it. See *Metts v. Mims*, 384 S.C. 491, 499, 682 S.E.2d 813, 817-18 (citing *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) ("A party must file [a Rule 59(e)] motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.") (emphasis in original)); see also *Bean*, 392 S.C. at 560, 709 S.E.2d at 113-14 (Ct. App. 2011) (holding an issue unpreserved for appellate review when the trial court failed to address issue in its order granting summary judgment and appellant did not file a motion under Rule 59(e), SCRCP).

By raising this now on appeal, Appellant attempts to re-cast the entire scope of the Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment into something it never entailed. Additionally, Appellant attempts to re-cast the lower court's order in ways that the lower court never ruled. Appellant cannot now seek to modify the lower court's order on appeal in ways that he never sought to have the lower court consider and rule on in the first instance. See

*Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 117, 410 S.E.2d 537, 546 (1991) (holding an issue was not preserved for appellate review because the appellants failed to raise it to the trial court in opposition to the respondent's summary judgment motion); *see also I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) ("[A] losing party must first try to convince the lower court is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred."). This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**II. Appellant's myriad issues that the partial summary judgment motion hearing procedure was defective are frivolous, and are not preserved for appeal.**

Appellant appears to raise at least half a dozen intertwined, muddled statements parading as arguments relating to the procedure of the Court's hearing of the Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment. In addition to being unpreserved and meritless, several of these "arguments" are inscrutable. For brevity's sake, Respondent has attempted to summarize those arguments and will address each in turn to the extent it is possible.<sup>1</sup> Particularly applicable to each of Appellant's myriad issues is the commonly repeated mantra by our appellate courts that "whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter." *See Jennings v. Jennings*, 401 S.C. 1, 6, 736 S.E.2d 242, 244 (2012). At the end of the day, the Appellant never once even indicates why or how any of these unpreserved contentions make any

---

<sup>1</sup> Importantly, Respondent notes that this Court will ordinarily not consider any point of the Appellant's brief which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal, as required by Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR.

difference. Appellant never mentions that these unpreserved issues and contentions are governed by an abuse of discretion standard, let alone shows how the lower court abused its discretion nor any prejudice that actually resulted. This Court should, therefore, affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**A. Appellant's entire "document dump" or "trial by ambush" issues are not preserved for appellate review, and without relevant legal authority.**

Appellant's Amended Initial Brief is replete with conclusive statements that Respondent performed a "document dump" and committed "trial by ambush." Essentially, Appellant contends that he was ambushed with documents at the hearing, and that this was somehow violative of the SCRPC. (Init. App. Br. 6-8). In substance, the Appellant's entire contention is that a supporting memorandum of law and material thereto must be served with the underlying motion "in the interest of justice." (Init. App. Br. 8). Appellant cites Rule 1, Rule 6(d), and Rule 56, SCRPC, as purported support for his contention. (Init. App. Br. 6-8). Appellant cites no relevant case law for this position. Appellant cites no rule which actually support his position. And, in fact, Appellant cannot do so because, in South Carolina's state courts, there is no rule or other authority which even requires a supporting memorandum of law or other material. Appellant's counsel even conceded as much below during the lower court's motion hearing:

THE COURT: He filed a motion for summary judgment. And then there is a memorandum of law.

...

Mr. Bell, the rules, unlike in federal court, don't require him to – I know they have looked at it and talked about it, but the rules don't require him to turn over the memorandum of law in any particular time.

MR. BELL: I'm not disagreeing with that, Your Honor.

(R. 24, ll. 5-13). However, the Appellant cannot concede an issue below and then challenge that issue on appeal. *See State v. Bailey*, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (cannot make one argument at trial and a different argument on appeal). This Court should, therefore, affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**B. Appellant's contention that the Respondent used a memorandum of law, instead of an affidavit, to introduce evidence is frivolous and is not preserved for appellate review.**

On appeal, Appellant contends that Respondent used a memorandum of law—instead of an affidavit—to introduce evidence to the lower court which the lower court relied upon in rendering the order granting partial summary judgment to Respondent. (Init. App. Br. 8-11). Candidly, this contention is frivolous given that the Appellant's own Amended Initial Brief is replete with references that the Respondent, in fact, submitted both a supporting memorandum and an Affidavit of Josh Hammond. And, further confounding Appellant's contention, is the fact that the Appellant himself put before the lower court the *very* same pieces of evidence. (R. 74; R. 300) (1st and 2nd Affidavits of Tod Hammond). This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

1. **Respondent submitted both a supporting memorandum and an Affidavit of Josh Hammond—as stated in the Appellant’s own Statement of the Case, Statement of Facts, and Argument sections—before the lower court granted partial summary judgment.**

The Appellant’s own Statement of the Case states that *before* the lower court judge granted Respondent’s motion for partial summary judgment, that the Respondent submitted an “affidavit with the same exhibits.” (Init. App. Br. 2). Further, Appellant’s own Statement of Facts states that the “Respondent also submitted documents including an affidavit of the Respondent.” (Init. App. Br. 6). And, once more, the Appellant’s own Argument section states that the “Respondent also filed their first affidavit and attached the same documents that were previously introduced at the hearing.” (Init. App. Br. 18). It is, of course, elementary that “[a]ny matters stated or alleged in [the] appellant’s statement [of the case] shall be binding on appellant.” Rule 208(b)(1)(C), SCACR. In light of the foregoing, Respondent submits that it is frivolous and disingenuous for Appellant to now say that the Respondent did not submit evidence to the lower court by way of affidavit.

2. **Appellant filed and submitted into evidence the same exhibits as were attached to Respondent’s supporting memorandum and Respondent’s Affidavit of Josh Hammond for which Appellant now complains.**

A review of the Appellant’s two affidavits filed before the Court reveals that the Appellant himself put before the lower court the very same exhibits that the Respondent did in the Respondent’s supporting memorandum and

Affidavit of Josh Hammond. Thus, once again, the lower court's order was made after the exhibits were entered into the record, whether by Respondent's affidavit or by Appellant's affidavit. And yet, once more, "whatever doesn't make any difference, doesn't matter." See *Jennings v. Jennings*, 401 S.C. 1, 6, 736 S.E.2d 242, 244 (2012). This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

**C. Appellant's contention that the lower court erred by hearing the Respondent's motion for partial summary judgment is not preserved for appellate review, is not an argument, and is patently frivolous.**

Appellant appears to contend that summary judgment on the issue of ownership was premature because discovery had not yet been completed or that Respondent did not produce certain documents. (Init. App. Br. 2, 7). Appellant's contention is not an argument, is not preserved for appellate review, and is wholly meritless. See *Bean*, 392 S.C. at 560, 709 S.E.2d at 113 (Ct. App. 2011).

"The rulings of a trial [court] in matters involving discovery will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion." *Bayle v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based on factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.*

As a threshold matter, the Appellant's statements as to prematurity of the hearing is, in no way, an issue included in Appellant's statement of issues

on appeal. Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR, "no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal." Accordingly, this Court respectfully should not consider this point, or any argument thereto, as an issue on appeal. This Court should affirm the lower court's grant of partial summary judgment to Respondent.

Even still, the Appellant never moved for a continuance in which to pursue further discovery at the summary judgment hearing. Appellant never submitted an affidavit pursuant to Rule 56(f), SCRCP. Therefore, this is not preserved for review on appeal and should not be entertained by this Court. *See Pryor v. Northwest Apartments, Ltd.*, 321 S.C. 524, 529, 469 S.E.2d 630, 633 (Ct. App. 1996) (holding that issue as to whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment because discovery requests were outstanding was not preserved where appellant did not specifically request court to continue the case so discovery could be completed).

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